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Nature of the Action 

Plaintiff-Appellee Doctors Direct Insurance, Inc., an insurer, filed this 

action in the Circuit Court seeking a declaratory judgment that it owes no 

duty to defend or indemnify Defendant Beaute’ E’mergente, Inc. (“MCS”), its 

insured under a medical professional liability policy (the “Policy”), from 

Defendant-Appellant David Bochenek’s federal lawsuit (the “Bochenek 

Lawsuit”). The Bochenek Lawsuit alleges that MCS sent telephone text 

messages to Bochenek’s cell phone through the use of an automatic dialer in 

violation of the federal Telephone Consumer Protection Act and the Illinois 

Consumer Fraud Act.   

MCS subsequently filed a bankruptcy petition and Bochenek sought to 

lift the stay on both the Bochenek Lawsuit and this action. In lifting the stay, 

the Bankruptcy Court limited Bochenek’s recovery against MCS to the 

proceeds (if any) of the Policy. Bochenek answered the Complaint for 

Declaratory Judgment admitting all of the complaint’s allegations save for 

two legal conclusions. Bochenek’s answer limited the claim for coverage 

under the Policy to a single endorsement which provides limited coverage for 

a Privacy Wrongful Act, as defined in the Policy. Based on Bochenek’s 

admissions in his answer, the Circuit Court found that, as a matter of law, 

Bochenek’s TCPA and Consumer Fraud claims failed to allege a Privacy 

Wrongful Act and that Doctors Direct had no duty to defend or indemnify 
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MCS. Accordingly, the Circuit Court entered a judgment on the pleadings in 

favor of Doctors Direct.1 

Issues Presented for Review 

 The federal Telephone Consumer Protection Act bars the sending of 

unauthorized text messages through the use of an automatic dialer and the 

Illinois Consumer Fraud Act protects consumers, borrowers, and businesses 

against fraud, unfair competition, and deceptive business practices. The issue 

presented here is whether the Circuit Court erred when it held that there 

was no insurance coverage for a breach or violation of U.S. federal, state or 

local statutes and regulations associated with the control and use of financial, 

credit or medical information when the insured who allegedly sent an 

unauthorized text message through the use of an automatic dialer was sued 

under the federal Telephone Consumer Protection Act as well as the Illinois 

Consumer Fraud Act. 

Standard of Review 

 As the Circuit Court entered a judgment on the pleadings, this Court 

conducts a de novo review of whether the pleadings presented below raised a 

genuine issue of material fact and, if not, whether the movant was entitled to 

the judgment entered below. Gillen v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 349 

Ill.App.3d 779, 781-82 (2004).  

                                                 
1  Because MCS no longer had any stake in the proceedings below after 
the Bankruptcy Court limited Bochenek’s recovery in this matter to any 
proceeds from Doctors Direct’s insurance policy, Doctors Direct’s declaratory 
relief claim against MCS was moot and the Circuit Court dismissed it. 
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Statement of Facts 

As the lower court granted a judgment on the pleadings, this 

Statement of Facts is taken largely from Defendant-Appellant’s admissions in 

the pleadings. 

A. DOCTORS DIRECT INSURES MCS FOR MEDICAL MALPRACTICE LIABILITY 

Doctors Direct is an Illinois insurer engaged in the business of 

underwriting medical professional liability insurance coverage. (A75)2 On or 

about January 9, 2013, Doctors Direct issued its Medical Professional 

Liability Policy No. P14-50028 (the “Policy”) to James McAdoo, an Illinois 

physician. (A75-A76)  Defendant Beaute’ E’mergente, Inc. is an Illinois 

limited liability company that does business under the name McAdoo 

Cosmetic Surgery (“MCS”). (A75) Pursuant to the terms of the Policy 

endorsements, MCS is an additional named insured under the Policy. (A77) 

B. BOCHENEK SUES MCS FOR SENDING UNSOLICITED TEXT 
MESSAGES TO HIM 
 
On or about October 15, 2013, Defendant David Bochenek, an 

individual residing in Illinois, filed a lawsuit styled Bochenek v. Beaute 

Emergente, LLC, Case No. 13-cv-7394, in the United States District Court for 

the Northern District of Illinois, on his own behalf and on behalf of a class of 

similarly situated individuals. (A75; A78) The lawsuit named MCS, among 

others, as a defendant and sought relief against MCS based on alleged 

                                                 
2  This brief cites to pages in the Appendix prepared by Appellant as A__, 
pages in the Record as C__, and pages in the Supplemental Record as 
Supp.R. C__. 
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violations of the federal Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227, 

and the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act, 815 ILCS 505/2 (“Bochenek Lawsuit”). 

(A78) 

The Bochenek Lawsuit alleges that Bochenek received an unsolicited 

text message on his cellular telephone on three separate occasions 

advertising services and products from MCS. (A78) The Bochenek Lawsuit 

further alleges that MCS is responsible for making or causing the making of 

the text message calls. (A78) 

According to the Bochenek Lawsuit, Bochenek had no prior relationship 

with MCS and Bochenek had never provided MCS with his cellular telephone 

number. (A78) As alleged in the Bochenek Lawsuit, the text messages were 

made as part of a mass broadcast of text messages to the cellular telephones 

of at least 40 other people in Illinois. (A78-A79) 

This conduct allegedly violated the federal Telephone Consumer 

Protection Act and Bochenek claims that he (along with each other class 

member) suffered damages “as a result of the receipt of the unsolicited text 

message calls, in that they were required to pay for such receipt, either on a 

per message basis or because the receipt counted against the number of 

minutes or messages they pay for.”  (A79) The Bochenek Lawsuit also alleges 

that this same conduct violated Section 2 of the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act. 

(A79) 
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C. MCS DEMANDED THAT DOCTORS DIRECT DEFEND MCS FROM THE 

BOCHENEK LAWSUIT 
 

On or about October 30, 2013, MCS gave notice of the Bochenek Lawsuit 

to Doctors Direct and demanded that Doctors Direct defend MCS as well as 

indemnify MCS from liability for the claims in the Bochenek Lawsuit. (A79) 

According to MCS, the Bochenek Lawsuit triggered Doctors Direct’s 

obligation under both the Policy and its Cyber Claims endorsement to defend 

and indemnify MCS in the Bochenek Lawsuit. (A79) According to MCS, the 

Bochenek Lawsuit constitutes a Privacy Wrongful Act under the Cyber 

Claims endorsement. (A79) 

Doctors Direct filed its Complaint for Declaratory Relief seeking a 

judgment declaring that: 

 Doctors Direct has no obligation to provide a defense to MCS in 
Bochenek v. Beaute Emergente, LLC, Case No. 13-cv-7394 
(N.D.Ill.); and 
 

 Doctors Direct has no obligation to indemnify MCS for any 
damages awarded in Bochenek v. Beaute Emergente, LLC, Case 
No. 13-cv-7394 (N.D.Ill.). 

 
(A6-A7)  The Bochenek Lawsuit does not trigger the Policy’s Insuring 

Agreement because it does not seek a recovery for a “bodily injury” or a 

“professional injury” and it is not a peer review board or government 

regulatory body proceeding. (A80) Bochenek admits these allegations in his 

Answer in this action. (A80) 

 Bochenek only denied two of the allegations in Doctors Direct’s 

Complaint for Declaratory Relief. First, Bochenek denies Doctors Direct’s 
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allegation that “[t]he Policy does not cover MCS for the claims raised in the 

Bochenek Lawsuit.” (A80, ¶ 23)  Bochenek also denies that: 

Because the Bochenek Complaint does not allege a 
breach or violation of U.S. federal, state, or local 
statutes and regulations associated with the control 
and use of personally identifiable financial, credit, 
or medical information, the Bochenek Complaint 
fails to allege a Privacy Wrongful Act under the 
Policy.   
 

(A80, ¶ 27) 

 This dispute is significant because the Policy’s Cyber Claims 

endorsement provides: 

Subject to all terms, conditions, definitions and 
exclusions of the Policy, we agree to reimburse 
protected parties, up to the applicable limit 
indicated in this endorsement, for costs protected 
parties become legally obligated to pay as a result 
of a Cyber Claim for any Network Security 
Wrongful Act or Privacy Wrongful Act including 
Patient Notification Costs and Credit Monitoring 
Costs incurred for any Privacy Wrongful Act and 
for Data Recovery Costs incurred due to a Data 
Interference Act, including Defense Costs of a 
Government Investigation for a Privacy Wrongful 
Act. 
 

(A27; A77) 
 

The Cyber Claims endorsement defines a Privacy Wrongful Act as 

follows: 

Privacy Wrongful Act means any breach or 
violation of U.S. federal, state or local statutes and 
regulations associated with the control and use of 
personally identifiable financial, credit or medical 
information, whether actual or alleged, but only if 
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committed or allegedly committed by protected 
parties. 
 

(A38; A77-A78, emphasis added.) 

D. THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW 

 Doctors Direct filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings because, as 

a matter of law, the Bochenek Lawsuit failed to allege a Privacy Wrongful 

Act and therefore Bochenek’s claims in the lawsuit did not fall within the 

coverage of the Policy. (C108) Bochenek did not file a cross-motion for 

judgment on the pleadings. 

The motion was fully briefed and argued to the Circuit Court on July 

21, 2014. (C203)  After the matter was fully briefed but before argument, 

Bochenek filed an amended complaint in the Bochenek Lawsuit. (Supp.R. C5) 

Ultimately, on September 15, 2014, the Circuit Court granted Doctors 

Direct’s motion for judgment on the pleadings and declared that Doctors 

Direct had no duty to defend or indemnify MCS in the Bochenek Lawsuit. 

(A105) 

Judge Valderrama supported his ruling with a detailed Memorandum 

Opinion and Order analyzing whether either of the two claims alleged in the 

Bochenek lawsuit fell within the definition of a Privacy Wrongful Act. (A98)  

Specifically, Judge Valderrama analyzed whether either the TCPA or the 
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Consumer Fraud Act was “associated with the control, or use of personally 

identifiable financial, credit, or medical information.”3 

Ultimately, Judge Valderrama determined that the TCPA was 

intended to protect consumers from “certain forms of undesirable 

communication”. (A102) Judge Valderrama rejected Bochenek’s contention 

that the TCPA was associated with the “control and use of personally 

identifiable financial, credit, or medical information” because there is nothing 

in the TCPA that regulates such information. (A102) Similarly, Judge 

Valderrama rejected Bochenek’s contention that the Consumer Fraud Act 

was “associated with the control or use of personally identifiable financial, 

credit, or medical information.”  Because the Consumer Fraud Act is intended 

to protect consumers, borrowers, and businesses from unfair methods of 

competition and other unfair deceptive business practices and there was 

nothing in the statute intended to protect against the disclosure of personally 

identifiable financial, credit, or medical information, Judge Valderrama 

concluded that the act was not “associated with the control or use” of such 

information. (A105) 

 Judge Valderrama also rejected Bochenek’s contention that the Policy 

was ambiguous because the language “associated with the control or use of 

personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical information” in the Policy 
                                                 
3  Judge Valderrama recognized that Bochenek had filed an amended 
complaint in the Bochenek lawsuit and specifically noted that “neither party 
asserts that the amendment…affects [Doctors Direct’s] Motion for Judgment 
on the Pleadings.” (A98, n.1) 
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could be read as modifying the words “any violation or breach” and not “U.S. 

federal, state or local statute or regulation”. (A104) The Court determined 

that the Policy language at issue here was not ambiguous and that the plain 

and ordinary meaning of the words employed dictated that the “associated 

with” language modified the immediately preceding “statute or regulation” 

phrase. (A104) 
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Argument 

The Policy defines a Privacy Wrongful Act as: 

any breach or violation of U.S. federal, state or 
local statute or regulations associated with the 
control and use of personally identifiable financial, 
credit or medical information, whether actual or 
alleged, but only if committed or allegedly 
committed by protected parties. 

(A77-A78 – emphasis added). Since neither of the statutes which the 

Bochenek Lawsuit contends that MCS breached – the federal Telephone 

Consumer Protection Act and the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act – seeks to 

protect against the “control and use of personally identifiable financial, 

credit, or medical information,” the Circuit Court properly determined that 

there is no coverage for the Bochenek Lawsuit under the Policy and entered a 

judgment on the pleadings for Doctors Direct. This Court should affirm the 

Circuit Court’s judgment.   

In this Court, Bochenek contends that both statutes do protect against 

the control and use of such information because the statutes are concerned 

with protecting the privacy of cell phone users. Bochenek further contends 

that the definition of a Privacy Wrongful Act is ambiguous because it can be 

read so that the phrase “associated with the control and use of personally 

identifiable financial, credit, or medical information” does not modify the 

preceding term “statute or regulations”, but instead modifies the earlier term 

“breach or violation”. 
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Bochenek’s contentions must be rejected because (1) even if the 

statutes protect against an intrusion into the lives of cell phone users, the 

statutes have nothing to do with the secrecy of personally identifiable 

financial, credit, or medical information; and (2) Bochenek’s misreading of the 

definition of a Privacy Wrongful Act fails to accord the language its plain, 

ordinary meaning.   

A. THE STATUTES AT ISSUE IN THE BOCHENEK LAWSUIT ARE NOT 

CONCERNED WITH THE SECRECY OF PERSONALLY 

IDENTIFIABLE FINANCIAL, CREDIT, OR MEDICAL INFORMATION 

Neither the TCPA nor the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act are “associated 

with the control and use of personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical 

information”. As, the Illinois Supreme Court explained in Standard Mut. Ins. 

Co. v. Lay, 2013 IL 114617 ¶27, the TCPA was intended to protect the 

privacy interests of telephone customers. And, in Robinson v. Toyota Motor 

Credit Corp., 201 Ill.2d 403 (2002), the Supreme Court noted that “the Illinois 

Consumer Fraud Act was intended to protect consumers, borrowers, and 

business persons against fraud, unfair methods of competition, and other 

unfair deceptive business practices.” 

In the Circuit Court, Bochenek argued that by protecting consumers 

against an invasion of their right to privacy through unwanted telemarketing 

calls,4 the TCPA is somehow “associated with the control and use of 

personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical information”. But as the 

Illinois Supreme Court has recently explained: 
                                                 
4  (C127-128) 
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[the] “right of privacy” connotes both an interest in 
seclusion and an interest in the secrecy of personal 
information. Accordingly, the policy language 
“material that violates a person's right of privacy” 
can reasonably be understood to refer to material 
that violates a person's seclusion. 

Valley Forge Ins. Co. v. Swiderski Electr., Inc., 223 Ill.2d 352 (2006).   

In Valley Forge, the issue was whether a claim under the TCPA based 

on sending unsolicited faxes violated the recipient’s right of privacy. The 

Supreme Court held that because the faxes intrude on the recipient’s interest 

in seclusion, the faxes violated the right of privacy. Similarly, the unsolicited 

text messages alleged here intruded on Bochenek’s interest in seclusion.   

 The Policy definition of a Privacy Wrongful Act, however, does not 

include a violation of law associated with the right of seclusion. The use and 

control of personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical information 

implicates an interest in the secrecy of personal information. The TCPA does 

not, however, protect the secrecy of that personal information. Instead, the 

TCPA protects against – as Bochenek candidly admitted – “harassment, 

annoyance, and loss from abusive use of the telephone system”;5 in other 

words, intrusion on a person’s seclusion. 

 With respect to the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act, Bochenek similarly 

contends that since “federal and state statutes prohibit practice[s] similar to 

those that [MCS] engaged in”, MCS engaged in unfair acts and practices. 

                                                 
5  (C129-C130) 
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Bochenek then contends that the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act “is violated by 

unfair acts and practices that are not also deceptive.”6   

 Bochenek continues:  

Robocalls using automated dialers, especially to cell 
phones, like the ones at issue here, amount to a 
harassing personal invasion in violation of the 
TCPA. Because a cell phone is usually carried on a 
person, ignoring the unwanted text message or 
phone call is difficult. Similarly, like junk faxes 
under the TCPA, robocalls can tie up someone's cell 
phone and thwart legitimate phone calls and 
consumers are forced to pay for the costs of 
advertising by paying for their cell phone service. 

(Response at 10)  Thus, according to Bochenek, because the statute protects 

against the intrusion on the privacy rights of others, the Illinois Consumer 

Fraud Act is somehow “associated with the use and control of personally 

identifiable financial, credit, or medical information”. 

 But, just as it did with respect to the TCPA, this argument only 

implicates a consumer’s interest in seclusion and not the consumer’s interest 

in maintaining the secrecy of certain information. Accordingly, the Illinois 

Consumer Fraud Act is not associated with maintaining the secrecy of 

personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical information.7 

                                                 
6  Bochenek also contends that the violation of certain other Illinois 
statutes is a per se violation of the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act. Bochenek 
does not explain how those statutes protect the secrecy of personally 
identifiable financial, credit, or medical information. In any event, 
Bochenek’s federal Complaint does not allege a violation of any of those 
Illinois statutes. 
7  In his Response (at 4-6), Bochenek goes on at length over the meaning 
of the phrase “personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical 
information”, but regardless of its meaning Bochenek’s Complaint is not 
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1. Bochenek’s Claim Under The TCPA Is Not A Claim 
Based On A Privacy Wrongful Act 

 
 Count I of the Bochenek Lawsuit alleges that MCS violated the TCPA, 

47 U.S.C. §227, by sending an unsolicited text message to a cellphone 

through the use of an automatic telephone dialer. This is not a claim for a 

Privacy Wrongful Act under the Policy because Section 227 does not apply to 

the control and use of personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical 

information. 

Having reviewed the language and purpose of the TCPA, Judge 

Valderrama concluded that “the TCPA was intended to protect consumers 

from certain forms of undesirable communication.” (A102) 

Indeed, the Illinois Supreme Court has explained the intent behind the 

TCPA: 

Congress enacted the TCPA to address 
telemarketing abuses attributable to the use of 
automated telephone calls to devices including 
telephones, cellular telephones, and fax machines. 
The purposes of the TCPA are to protect the 
privacy interests of residential telephone customers 
by restricting unsolicited automated telephone calls 
to the home, and facilitating interstate commerce 
by restricting certain uses of fax machines and 
automatic dialers. 
 

Standard Mut. Ins. Co. v. Lay, 2013 IL 114617 ¶ 27. Thus, Judge Valderrama 

correctly recognized that there is no basis to conclude that the TCPA claim 

constitutes a Privacy Wrongful Act under the Policy. 

                                                                                                                                               
concerned with MCS exposing Bochenek’s secret information, but instead is 
concerned with MCS intruding on Bochenek’s seclusion. 
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 Because FCC regulations prohibit telemarketers from calling someone 

on the national do-not-call registry,8 require telemarketers to maintain an 

internal do-not-call list based on consumer requests,9 and prohibit the use of 

a technology to dial a telephone number to determine whether the line is a 

facsimile or voice line,10 Bochenek contends in this Court that the TCPA is 

somehow “associated with” the secrecy of “personally identifiable financial, 

credit, or medical information.”  The flaw in Bochenek’s contention, however, 

is that none of these regulations involve the control and use of such 

information. 

 Notably, Bochenek never explains how any of these regulations are 

concerned with the control and use of personally identifiable financial, credit, 

or medical information. Two of these regulations protect an individual who 

requests not to be called from telemarketers intruding on the individual’s 

seclusion. The third regulation simply prohibits using technology to identify 

whether a phone line is a facsimile line or not. These regulations have 

nothing whatsoever to do with financial, credit, or medical information of any 

sort. These regulations – none of which the Bochenek lawsuit alleges was 

violated – do not involve the secrecy of financial, credit, or medical 

information.  

                                                 
8  24 CFR § 64.1200(c)(2). 
9  24 CFR § 64.1200(d). 
10  24 CFR § 64.1200(a)(8). 
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2. Bochenek’s Claim Under The Illinois Consumer 
Fraud Act Also Is Not Based On A Privacy 
Wrongful Act  

 
Count II of the Bochenek Lawsuit, which is based on the same conduct 

that forms the basis for Count I, i.e., sending an unsolicited text message 

through an auto-dialer, seeks relief under the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act, 

815 ILCS 505/2. The Consumer Fraud Act claim is not based on a Privacy 

Wrongful Act under the Policy because the Consumer Fraud Act is not 

associated with the secrecy of personally identifiable financial, credit, or 

medical information. 

According to the Illinois Supreme Court, “the Consumer Fraud Act is a 

regulatory and remedial statute intended to protect consumers, borrowers, 

and business persons against fraud, unfair methods of competition, and other 

unfair and deceptive business practices.” Robinson v. Toyota Motor Credit 

Corp., 201 Ill.2d 403 (2002). The statute itself specifies the type of conduct 

barred: 

the use or employment of any deception, fraud, 
false pretense, false promise, misrepresentation or 
the concealment, suppression or omission of any 
material fact, with intent that others rely upon the 
concealment, suppression or omission of such 
material fact … in the conduct of any trade or 
commerce.... 
 

This is not a Privacy Wrongful Act under the Policy. 

*       *       * 
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 To avoid this common sense reading of the Policy language and the two 

statutes, Bochenek contends that the definition of a Privacy Wrongful Act is 

ambiguous. 

B. THERE IS NO AMBIGUITY IN THE POLICY LANGUAGE 

The Policy defines a Privacy Wrongful Act as: 

any breach or violation of U.S. federal, state or 
local statute or regulations associated with the 
control and use of personally identifiable financial, 
credit or medical information, whether actual or 
alleged, but only if committed or allegedly 
committed by protected parties. 

The Circuit Court gave this language its plain ordinary meaning:  the 

limiting clause “associated with the control and use of personally identifiable 

financial, credit or medical information” modifies the immediately prior 

phrase (“statutes or regulations”) and not some prior language. Bochenek 

contends that this was error because the definition of a Privacy Wrongful Act 

is ambiguous. According to Bochenek, the “associated with” term modifies 

“violation or breach” and not “statutes and regulations”.   

While Illinois courts construe contracts (including insurance policies) 

according to the ordinary plain meaning of the language that the parties 

chose, Bochenek seeks a construction of the definition of a Privacy Wrongful 

Act at odds with ordinary plain English. 

“An insurance policy is a contract, and the general rules governing the 

interpretation of other types of contracts also govern the interpretation of 

insurance policies.” Hobbs v. Hartford Ins. Co., 214 Ill.2d 11 (2005). The 
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court’s “primary objective is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the 

parties, as expressed in the policy language.” 214 Ill.2d at 17. When the 

policy language is unambiguous, the policy is applied as written. As in any 

contract, “[w]hether an ambiguity exists turns on whether the policy 

language is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation [and 

a]lthough ‘creative possibilities’ may be suggested, only reasonable 

interpretations will be considered.” 214 Ill.2d at 17. Absent an ambiguity in 

the policy language, the court has no occasion to construe the policy in favor 

of an insured and the court will not “strain to find an ambiguity where none 

exists.”  214 Ill.2d at 17.    

Bochenek’s construction of the Policy language at issue here defies the 

plain ordinary meaning of the words chosen. Bochenek would read the 

definition of a Policy Wrongful Act as if it had been written as follows: 

Privacy Wrongful Act means any breach or 
violation, associated with the control and 
use of personally identifiable financial, 
credit or medical information, of U.S. 
federal, state or local statutes and 
regulations, whether actual or alleged, but 
only if committed or allegedly committed by 
protected parties. 

 
OR 

 
Privacy Wrongful Act means any breach or 
violation of U.S. federal, state or local 
statutes and regulations, whether actual or 
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alleged, [which breach or violation is] 
associated with the control and use of 
personally identifiable financial, credit or 
medical information, but only if committed 
or allegedly committed by protected parties. 
 

Thus, despite all of Bochenek’s protestations that the trial court somehow re-

wrote the terms of the Policy, Bochenek is the one seeking to re-write the 

Policy language here. 

The California Appellate Court’s decision in ACS Systems, Inc. v. St. 

Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co., 53 Cal.Rptr.3d 786 (Cal.App. 2009), involved 

the construction of similarly structured language in an insurance policy. In 

ACS, after Plaintiff insured was sued for sending an unauthorized junk fax 

under the TCPA, the insurer denied coverage for an advertising injury and 

the insured sued. The policy language in ACS defined advertising injury as 

“making known to any person or organization written or spoken material 

that violates an individual’s right of privacy.”  The insurer moved to dismiss 

arguing that sending an unsolicited junk fax did not trigger the coverage 

because the content of the faxes did not include private materials about 

others. The trial court granted the motion and the insured appealed. 

On appeal, the insured argued that the express language could be read 

as providing coverage for a “making known” that violates an individual’s 

right of privacy. The appellate court rejected this interpretation as 

unreasonable and held that the advertising injury only applied to claims 

alleging the disclosure of private content to third parties.  
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The appellate court buttressed its construction of the policy language 

with the last antecedent rule: 

The last antecedent rule provides that “’qualifying 
words, phrases and clauses are to be applied to the 
words or phrases immediately preceding and are 
not to be construed as extending to or including 
others more remote.’” * * * Considered 
grammatically, the word “that” in “[m]aking 
known to any person or organization written or 
spoken material that violates an individual’s right 
of privacy” can reasonably be interpreted only to 
refer to “material.” We find that “material” is not 
only the last antecedent of “that” but is also its 
only antecedent. “That” does not refer to “making 
known.” Thus this particular advertising offense 
only refers to “material that violates an 
individual’s right of privacy,” and does not refer to 
a “making known that violates an individual’s 
right of privacy.” 

 
53 Cal.Rptr. at 796. 

Finally, Bochenek makes two additional unsupported arguments that 

the Circuit Court misunderstood the Policy language at issue here. First 

Bochenek contends that the Policy language is ambiguous because the last 

antecedent rule would have required the Circuit Court to confine the term 

“associated with personally identifiable financial, credit or medical 

information” to the word “regulations” and not to “statutes or regulations”. 

But the last antecedent rule does not apply where to do so would create an 

unreasonable interpretation of the language. Johnson-Maday v. Prudential 

Ins. Co., 276 Ill.App.3d 371 (1995). The whole point of defining the term 
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Privacy Wrongful Act was to limit coverage. If the parties intended to provide 

coverage for any breach or violation of a U.S. federal, state, or local law with 

no limitation, they hardly would have structured the language in this way. 

 Second, Bochenek contends that the use of the phrase “associated 

with” is ambiguous and thus should be given the most expansive meaning. As 

Bochenek would have it, because a particular consumer fraud violation could 

somehow involve “the control and use of personally identifiable financial, 

credit, or medical information” then the statute itself is necessarily 

associated with the control and use of such information regardless of the 

nature of the claim. Under Bochenek’s reasoning, every consumer fraud claim 

– even if based on nothing more than a garden variety misrepresentation of 

the insured’s services or fees – is a Privacy Wrongful Act under the Policy. 

Indeed, if Bochenek’s claim involved the theft of his bicycle, then according to 

Bochenek that claim too would be a Privacy Wrongful Act because the statute 

proscribing theft also prohibits the theft of business files which could contain 

personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical information. This is a 

plainly unreasonable construction of the Policy. 

 Contrary to Bochenek’s contentions, the modifier “associated with” is 

not intended to be expansive, but instead the language is intended to be 

limiting. Indeed, the most expansive use of language here would have been to 

simply leave out the modifier “associated with” so that a Privacy Wrongful 

Act included “any breach or violation of U.S. federal, state or local statutes 
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and regulations….” The Policy, however, sought to limit those statutes and 

regulations to those specifically dealing with the control and use of such 

information. Including the modifier “associated with” necessarily limited 

coverage to items “associated with personally identifiable financial, credit or 

medical information.”  In other words, items not so associated are necessarily 

excluded. 

C. THIS COURT CAN ALSO AFFIRM ON THE ALTERNATIVE HOLDING 

THAT A LIST OF PROSPECTIVE CUSTOMERS AND TELEPHONE 

NUMBERS IS NOT PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE FINANCIAL, 
CREDIT, OR MEDICAL INFORMATION 

 
As an alternative holding, Judge Valderrama rejected Bochenek’s 

contention that a list of prospective customers and their telephone numbers 

constitutes personally identifiable financial information. (A102) Bochenek 

contends that this was error arguing that such a list is  

1. Financial and/or medical information because MCS 
considered everyone on the list a candidate for 
cosmetic surgery services. (Brief at 16-20); 
 

2. Financial information because the cosmetic surgery 
services “are costly” (Brief at 16); and 

  
3. Medical information because everyone on the list 

conducted a transaction with a spa (Brief at 19). 
 
The defect in Bochenek’s contention is that these three reasons do not change 

a simple list of names and telephone numbers into financial or medical 

information. And, in any event, Bochenek cites no legal authority that 

supports these arguments. With regard to medical information, Bochenek’s 
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arguments are also waived because he did not raise them before Judge 

Valderrama.  

With no analysis, Bochenek quotes extensively from Trans Union Corp. 

v. FTC, 245 F.3d 809 (D.C.Cir. 2001),11 an appeal from a Federal Trade 

Commission order barring a credit reporting agency from selling marketing 

lists containing names and addresses extracted from credit information 

compiled from lenders. The credit reporting agency appealed arguing that, 

because the list of names and addresses did not include information related 

to determining credit eligibility, it was not subject to the statutory limits 

upon the dissemination of credit reports. 245 F.3d at 815. The Trans Union 

court reasoned because the credit reporting agency extracted the information 

on the list from its credit reporting database in accordance with customer-

specified selection criteria, the list communicated that each person on the list 

had at least one line of credit. As such, the list was a credit report and 

regulated by the Fair Credit Reporting Act. Accordingly, the federal appellate 

court affirmed the FTC’s Order. 245 F.3d at 816. 

Bochenek contends that the Trans Union case requires that all 

marketing lists be considered personally identifiable financial information 

because consumers’ purchasing information has the ability to reveal 

                                                 
11  Bochenek also cites to (but does not discuss) two federal district court 
decisions: In re Trans Union Corp. Privacy Litigation, 326 F.Supp.2d 893 
(N.D.Ill. 2004) and Individual Reference Services Group, Inc. v. FTC, 145 
F.Supp.2d 6 (D.D.C. 2001). These cases do not add to the analysis used in the 
Trans Union case and neither this Court nor Doctors Direct should have to 
speculate on why Bochenek cites each case. 
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information about them. Trans Union held no such thing. The issue is 

whether the marketing list here is considered personally identifiable 

financial information – a term that Bochenek recognizes has specific meaning 

because of the myriad of laws that limit the distribution of this type of 

information.    

Indeed, Bochenek quotes the FTC’s rule defining “personally 

identifiable financial information” as information provided to a financial 

institution in connection with financial products or services. 16 C.F.R. 

§313.3(o)(1). Financial institutions include banks, credit card issuers, 

securities brokers, and futures commission merchants. See 12 U.S.C. 

§§3401(1); 5390(c)(9)(D). Financial products and services include things 

customers do at banks such as obtaining credit, signing mortgages, making 

deposits, and cashing checks. See 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15). Plainly, there was no 

personally identifiable financial information here. The trial court properly 

held that a list of prospective customers for cosmetic surgery services does 

not meet the definition of personally identifiable financial information under 

this rule. (A103) 

If Trans Union teaches us anything, it is that the nature of the 

information on the list (e.g., whether it is credit information) is determined 

by how the list is compiled, not who receives the list or what the recipient 

“thinks” he knows about the people on the list. Bochenek contends that the 

list is financial and medical information because MCS thought that the list 
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identified individuals who it could sell its medical services. (Brief at 19)  Post-

compilation events, however, do not change the nature of the list and 

Bochenek has not advanced a single case holding to the contrary.  

Indeed, if MCS believed that a telephone directory of all individuals 

within five miles of its office are likely prospects to purchase its medical 

services, then Bochenek would define that directory as personally identifiable 

financial and medical information. Meanwhile, the local public school using 

that same directory to identify local families who may need to register 

children for school would not be using personally identifiable financial and 

medical information. Personally identifiable financial and medical 

information does not change its character based upon who is using the 

information and for what purpose.  

Similarly, Bochenek’s contention that a list of names and telephone 

numbers conveys financial information if it is provided to an entity 

marketing “costly” products or services is also similarly flawed. Bochenek’s 

analysis again ignores how the list was compiled and focuses on a single 

characteristic of the recipient – namely, that he has a “costly” product to sell.  

Bochenek does not define what he means by “costly.” But since the 

Botox injections offered for sale here were priced at $7 per unit (C50; C54), 

Bochenek’s threshold as to what he considers costly is so low that it is not a 

limitation. Thus, according to Bochenek, any time a business used a list of 

individuals and their telephone numbers to identify prospects that list is 
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automatically personally identifiable financial information. This post-

compilation analysis does not take a list of non-financial information and 

make it financial information.   

 The Circuit Court held that “a list of prospective customers for 

cosmetic surgery services” does not constitute personally identifiable 

financial information. (A103) Bochenek criticizes Judge Valderrama for this 

holding claiming that Judge Valderrama missed the point that “a list of spa 

customers was not ‘financial information,’ a spa not being a financial 

institution.” (Brief at 19) According to Bochenek, a list of spa customers is 

personally identifiable medical information and Judge Valderrama erred by 

not recognizing that the definition of a Privacy Wrongful Act refers to 

personally identifiable medical information in addition to personally 

identifiable financial information. 

 Bochenek waived this argument by failing to raise it before Judge 

Valderrama. In his response to the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, 

the sole argument that Bochenek made to establish that a list of prospective 

customers was “personally identifiable financial, credit or medical 

information” was based on the FTC’s definition of personally identifiable 

financial information. See C125 though C127. Given Bochenek’s failure to 

argue or cite relevant law on whether a list of prospects could be personally 

identifiable medical information, Judge Valderrama can hardly be faulted for 

only addressing Bochenek’s personally identifiable financial information 
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argument and not guessing that Bochenek would later raise another 

argument. 

 This Court should also note that the word “spa” does not appear in the 

Complaint for Declaratory Relief (A1), the Answer (A73), the Bochenek 

Lawsuit Complaint (A36), the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (C110), 

Bochenek’s Response to the Motion (C122), or Doctors Direct’s Reply brief 

(C135). Judge Valderrama had no reason to know anything about an 

argument that because information came from a spa, Bochenek claimed the 

prospect list was personally identifiable medical information. To be fair, 

Bochenek did amend his complaint in the federal court and he did file a copy 

of that amended complaint in the Circuit Court. (Supp.R. C5) While this 

amended complaint did include allegations that a prospect list was assembled 

from information coming from a spa, Judge Valderrama expressly noted that 

neither party asserted that the amended complaint affected the Motion for 

Judgment on the Pleadings.  

 Even if Bochenek’s failures in the Circuit Court standing alone was not 

enough to have waived this argument, his failures in this Court also require 

recognition that Bochenek has waived his contention that information 

compiled by a spa is personally identifiable medical information. Bochenek 

does not cite to any authority holding that a spa is considered a health care 
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provider or that services it provides are medical.12 In fact, none of Bochenek’s 

authority mentions medical information or health records.  

While Bochenek has given this Court more than he gave to Judge 

Valderrama, this Court (as well as Doctors Direct) is entitled to properly 

supported arguments and not mere afterthoughts. Bochenek has waived any 

argument that a prospect list is personally identifiable medical information.  

Conclusion 

 Bochenek contends that the Policy provides coverage for Privacy 

Wrongful Acts which includes claims that the insured committed a breach or 

violation of U.S. federal, state, or local statutes and regulations associated 

with the control and use of personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical 

information. But Bochenek’s Lawsuit seeks a recovery for violation of the 

TCPA and the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act based solely on sending an 

unsolicited text message through an automatic dialer. 

Neither statute is associated with the control and use of personally 

identifiable financial, credit, or medical information. Instead, the TCPA seeks 

                                                 
12  The definition of the word “spa” demonstrates the need for appropriate 
argument and authority on this subject: 
 

1 a: a mineral spring, b: a resort with mineral 
springs; 2: a fashionable resort or hotel; 3 New 
England:  soda fountain; 4: a commercial 
establishment providing facilities devoted 
especially to health, fitness, weight loss, beauty, 
and relaxation; [and] 5: a hot tub with a whirlpool 
device. 

 
See http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/spa 
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to prevent intrusion on an individual’s seclusion by preventing unwanted 

texts and the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act protects consumers, borrowers, 

and businesses from fraud, unfair competition, and deceptive business 

practices. Thus, based on Bochenek’s admissions in the pleadings and as a 

matter of law, the Policy did not cover the claims raised in the Bochenek 

Lawsuit and Judge Valderrama properly granted judgment on the pleadings 

on Doctors Direct’s Complaint for Declaratory Relief. Moreover, Judge 

Valderrama’s alternative holding that the Bochenek Lawsuit failed to raise 

any issues as to personally identifiable financial, credit, or medical 

information was also correct. 

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court. 
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